New Biomarkers Meriting Evaluation for Use with BioSCIM

<u>SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL</u> for:

"Monitoring Wastewater for Assessing Community Health: Sewage Chemical-Information Mining (SCIM)"

Christian G. Daughton, Ph.D.

Environmental Futures Analysis Branch, Systems Exposure Division, National Exposure Research Laboratory, Office of Research and Development, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 944 East Harmon Avenue, Las Vegas, NV, USA 89119 Tel: 702-798-2207; fax: 702-798-2142; e-mail: <u>daughton.christian@epa.gov</u>

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 2
2.	Desmosines	. 2
3.	Bone Turnover Markers: DPD, NTX, and CTX	. 3
4.	Pteridines: Neopterin	. 4
5.	DAMPS: N-formyl-Met-Leu-Phe (fMLP)	. 5
6.	Polyamines: Diacetylspermine (DAS)	. 5
7.	p75 Neurotrophin Receptor [Extracellular Domain]	. 6
8.	Urinary proteins associated with kidney dysfunction or injury	. 7
8 8 9.	 8.1. Vitamin D-binding protein (VDBP) 8.2. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) Gelsolin 	. 7 . 8 . 8
10.	References	. 9

1. Introduction

The following Supplementary Material provides brief discussions of each of the major biomarkers selected in this assessment that merit more detailed examination for whether they might be suitable for use with BioSCIM. These select few markers certainly do not serve as an exhaustive list. The intention was instead to offer some examples that reflect the types of information required to assess whether biomarkers might make suitable candidates. These summaries are presented with the caveat that additional major limitations may have been overlooked in the review of the literature - limitations that could nullify the utility of these markers. Each of these biomarkers is summarized in Table 2 of the manuscript.

2. Desmosines

The desmosines comprise two non-natural, tetrafunctional amino acids, each derived from four lysine residues that are synthesized within the matrix of elastin. Found only in elastin, their cross-linking confers structural longevity while allowing an elastin network to stretch and recoil reversibly in all directions. Known as desmosine (DES, a 1,2,3,5-tetrasubstituted pyridinium amino acid) and isodesmosine (IDES, a 1,3,4,5-tetrasubstituted pyridinium amino acid), these are collectively called the "desmosines". Elastin is the protein that imparts the elasticity required for many connective tissues, especially pulmonary and cardiovascular systems.

Significantly, elastin is synthesized only during growth years, after which its continued synthesis is repressed. The desmosines are rather unusual in that they are available to the body only in a finite supply. They are therefore excreted in finite amounts over a lifetime - as a result of damage and resulting breakdown by elastase. As such, their excretion is negatively correlated with health. Damage to elastin (which occurs from a number of diseases) releases the desmosines - in both free form and also conjugated to other proteins. The desmosines are extensively excreted in urine and are very chemically stable; desmosines reach higher levels in urine as a result of regulatory control of blood levels, which is achieved by removal via kidney filtration.

The desmosines have been known since the 1960s, with hundreds of papers having been published regarding their potential use as biomarkers in tracking the progression of pulmonary diseases - especially chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Iadarola and Luisetti, 2013; Ongay et al., 2016; Viglio et al., 2017); note, however, that excreted levels can decline in advanced disease stages as elastin becomes depleted. Desmosines can also be released from malignant solid tumors (Starcher et al., 2013). Their accelerated excretion is also a natural consequence of the normal aging process, which often can become entangled with disease processes (the convolution of biomarker levels resulting from disease and from natural aging processes is a problem shared with many biomarkers).

Since COPD continues to grow as a public health epidemic, the ability to monitor desmosines using BioSCIM would hold considerable potential value as a measure for a specific disease process. DES has also not proved controllable by drug intervention, so this eliminates drug therapy as a confounder for excreted amounts. Dietary

elastin (as a potential extraneous source of desmosines) is uncommon in Western diets; dietary beef is reported to not affect urinary levels of desmosines (Laguna et al., 2013). As with most biomarkers, many unknowns need to be addressed before an assessment can be made for the utility of desmosines with BioSCIM. Two of the few reviews of desmosines as biomarkers were published by Iadarola and Luisetti (2013) and Viglio et al. (2017).

3. Bone Turnover Markers: DPD, NTX, and CTX

Various specific biomolecules are used in clinical medicine as bone turnover markers (BTMs) to monitor the continual, ongoing process of bone remodeling. Bone remodeling is critical for maintaining the structural integrity and health of bone (Guañabens et al., 2015). The value of these tests resides in tracking trends in the rate of change (to monitor disease progression) - especially to determine if net bone resorption (breakdown) is occurring. This is dictated by the balance between the activity of osteoblasts and osteoclasts; the former create new bone (e.g., mineralization), but only after the osteoclasts initiate resorption in appropriate areas of the bone. Net bone formation and integrity (e.g., density and strength) tend to occur only in the growth years. Net bone loss and integrity begins at around ages 25-30; gender differences can be profound. This natural process, however, can be disrupted by a variety of diseases as well as from prolonged use of certain drugs (glucocorticoids and anti-epileptics are but two examples). Excessive resorption can be a major concern (e.g., loss of bone mass and strength) and results in elevated BTMs. Noteworthy is that most BTMs are measured in blood and would clearly not be useful for BioSCIM applications.

With respect to BioSCIM, it is unclear if BTM measures from numerous pooled individuals would be meaningful, especially given that natural diurnal fluctuations in excreted levels from any given individual can vary considerably (e.g., 50% or more). This might obscure the interpretation of BTM data from BioSCIM even further. With this said, the primary urinary BTMs that might be of use fall into two classes - each measuring resorption acting on a different structural facet of bone-collagen. Both of these classes are integral to the physical structure and stability of type I collagen, which is the major constituent of the organic matrix of bone.

Type 1 collagen fibrils comprise triple helices of amino acid chains dominated by proline and glycine. The fibrils each terminate with non-helix carboxy and amino sequences. These two sequences represent the first class of potential BTMs - the "terminal telopeptide crosslink" sequences; a telopeptide comprises an amino acid sequence required for initial formation or conformation of a protein but which is later removed upon maturation of the protein. These urinary telopeptides are eventually released during bone resorption. The principal ones are NTX and CTX: "N-terminal telopeptide crosslinks" (amino-terminal collagen crosslinks) and "C-terminal telopeptide crosslinks" (carboxy-terminal collagen crosslinks), respectively; note that a number of isomers also exist but are not discussed here.

Within the collagen matrix, the telopeptide sequences are bound to the second major class of urinary BTMs - the collagen cross-linking pyridinolines [pyridinoline (PYD) and deoxypyridinoline (DPD, or D-PYR)], which are tri-

substituted amino acid derivatives of hydroxypyridinium. Each tri-functional pyridinoline links a terminal telopeptide sequence of one triple helix to the body of the triple helix of an adjoining fibril, thereby conferring physical stability to the eventual collagen macrofibre. This is a greatly simplified description of the structural role played by these constituents in type I collagen fibrils. The crosslinked structure is illustrated and discussed in Hlaing and Compston (2014).

During bone resorption, the likely major urinary markers that result from collagen degradation are DPD, NTX, and CTX. DPD, unlike PYD, occurs almost exclusively in bone and dentin and is therefore preferred as a marker for bone-related diseases (such as osteoporosis) (Hlaing and Compston, 2014). Note, however, that urinary PYD and DPD could also result from types of collagen other than type I. But bone represents the largest source. Potentially of significance is that urinary DPD levels may not be influenced by diet (Nishizawa et al., 2013), but it is unknown if BTMs in raw or digested foods might be released to sewage and therefore confound BioSCIM data.

4. Pteridines: Neopterin

Pterins are based on the bicyclic 4-keto-2-amino pteridine ring. Neopterin is a catabolic by-product of cyclic guanosine triphosphate - upstream in the tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthetic pathway. Its production results primarily from activation of the cell-mediated immune system (Ghisoni et al., 2016); in this sense it serves as a marker for a properly functioning immune system, which can be interpreted as a healthy response to a stress. Neopterin is produced in rather large quantities as a result of a wide spectrum of infectious diseases and some diseases caused by - or associated with - excessive inflammation (Burton and Ma, 2017; Geisler et al., 2015; Janmale et al., 2015; Taymur et al., 2015). As such, neopterin serves to integrate the collective stress from a large number of adverse conditions. In this sense it is similar to isoprostanes in reflecting collective exposures to numerous, diverse stressors involved with systemic oxidative damage. But since a compromised (impaired) immune system might not produce elevated levels of neopterin, it might be difficult to interpret on balance whether its production predominantly indicates health or stress. Neopterin is excreted both via urine and feces (Buchman, 2016).

A potential limitation for BioSCIM is that neopterin also seems to occur as a natural product in some foods, such as tomatoes, spinach, and beets (Martin-Tornero et al., 2016; Rodrigues da Silva et al., 2007). This could confound BioSCIM data if raw or cooked foods entered sewers, especially since boiling and oxidation may lead to complex patterns of pteridine-interconversions and degradation (Van Daele et al., 2016). Daily variance in intra-individual excretion is also increased as a result of endogenous factors affecting its synthesis (Burton et al., 2016). Although neopterin is relatively stable (Heistermann and Higham, 2015), it is susceptible to UV photolysis (Behringer et al., 2017; Laich et al., 2002). This could cause losses in sewage open to the air, as well as in collected monitoring samples not shielded from the sun.

5. DAMPS: *N*-formyl-Met-Leu-Phe (fMLP)

fMLP is a member of the class of "alarmin" or "danger signal" molecules called "mitochondrial-derived damageassociated molecular patterns" (mtDAMPs) or "chemotactic factors". These chemotactic peptides are released from mitochondria. Once they become available extracellularly, such as from localized necrosis or serious systemic inflammation, they attract neutrophils (via surface receptors) and stimulate oxidative bursts. An integral part of the innate immune system, this simple tri-peptide (*N*-formylmethionine-leucylphenylalanine) serves as a mimic for the same peptide sequence (as well as for other bacterial oligopeptides) released by pathogenic bacteria (Pugin, 2012). Unfortunately, the bacterial source might serve to confound the human origin of fMLP as a suitable BioSCIM marker. While fMLP is clearly excreted in urine, it is also known to occur in agricultural and house dusts (Castranova et al., 1996). It is currently unknown whether fMLP also occurs at ambient levels in sewage after release from dusts or from bacterial lysis. Experiments would first have to be designed to determine if there were evidence for exogenous levels of fMLP that exceeded those expected just from urine/feces.

6. Polyamines: Diacetylspermine (DAS)

The polyamines (PAs) comprise a class of important biochemicals with rather complex metabolic pathways (Miller-Fleming et al., 2015). Traditionally, the PAs of usual focus in physiology are the aliphatic polyamines: putrescine (a diamine), spermidine (a triamine), and spermine (a tetraamine). These three constitute a largely reversible metabolic cycle (downstream of the arginine-ornithine pathway) that serves essential regulatory and control functions for all mammalian cells (primarily via PA-RNA complexes). But with regard to utility with BioSCIM, it is some of the PA metabolites that become ejected from this cycle that hold the most potential as useful biomarkers for a variety of diseases. The *N*-acetyl catabolic derivatives (generated via spermidine/spermine N^1 -acetyltransferase - SSAT) have shown the most promise, as they are extensively excreted in urine. The monoacetyl derivatives, however, are also extremely abundant. Acetylputrescine along with N^1 - and N^8 -acetylspermidine account for over 90% of the polyamines excreted in human urine (Kawakita et al., 2015). The abundance of the non-acetyl and mono-acetyl PAs in urine negate their utility in discerning perturbations in their excreted levels.

The PA cycle is closely controlled to maintain homoeostatic levels of the principal circulating polyamines. But during active tumor growth, homeostasis is perturbed to the extent that concentrations of many of the metabolites become elevated. Of particular promise as biomarkers are the diacetyl polyamines, which are produced at much lower levels. N^1 , N^{12} -diacetylspermine (DiAcSpm or DAS) in particular comprises only about 0.5% of the total urinary PAs. But the lower excreted levels of DAS have proven more useful in revealing changes. DAS also shows remarkably little intra-individual or inter-individual daily variation among healthy individuals (Hiramatsu et al., 2014); this fact may prove important with respect to the potential value of DAS as a urine-hydration normalization marker (an alternative to creatinine). But most notably, DAS levels become elevated with the onset and progression of a number of different cancers (Kawakita and Hiramatsu, 2006; Nakayama et al., 2012; Park and Igarashi, 2013;

Pegg and Casero, 2011; Takahashi et al., 2015), pointing to their potential value as BioSCIM markers of disease, especially cancers.

Polyamines have become a primary focus in the development of biomarkers for cancers, especially since SSAT becomes upregulated, leading to disruption of PA recycle and enhanced production and accumulation of the di-*N*-acetyl derivatives (Kawakita and Hiramatsu, 2006; Kawakita et al., 2011). The published clinical literature on PAs is quite extensive but most is only peripherally relevant for BioSCIM. One of the major concerns with respect to BioSCIM is the extent to which DAS might occur in the diet [e.g., a wide array of foods, such as cheese and citrus, are rich in the non-acetylated polyamines (Kalač, 2014)], as this would confound the utility of DAS for BioSCIM; but acetylated PAs (especially diacetyl derivatives) seem to occur in plants at very low levels (mono-acetylspermine, for example, tends to be back-converted to spermidine) (Ahou et al., 2014). Bacterial biofilms in the gut also metabolize polyamines (Johnson et al., 2015). Finally, the polyamines are very chemically stable with respect to heat and pH, indicating that they may persist in sewage.

Also noteworthy is the role played by three of the polyamines in generating reactive aldehydes, which in turn lead to the generation of cytotoxic acrolein. Acrolein can then react with lysine residues, generating another potential biomarker - the advanced lipoxidation end-product **FDP-lysine** [N^{e} -(3-formyl-3,4-dehydropiperidino)lysine], which is a specific measure of protein-conjugated acrolein (Park and Igarashi, 2013; Tomitori et al., 2005) and also a marker of cumulative oxidative stress (analogous to the archetype BioSCIM biomarker class - the isoprostanes).

7. p75 Neurotrophin Receptor [Extracellular Domain]

Neurotrophic factors, which range from peptides to small proteins, mediate the development and survival of neurons. Nerve growth factor (NGF) is a well-known example (Skaper, 2017). One of two receptor types for NGF is neurotrophin receptor p75 (p75NTR), also called low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor (LNGFR). During embryonic development, p75NTR is up-regulated. It is then down-regulated to consistent, low levels for the remainder of life. It is re-expressed, however, upon neuronal injury or the onset of certain neurological diseases (Shepheard et al., 2014). A specific portion of the transmembrane p75 neurotrophin receptor is referred to as the extracellular domain (ECD, or ectodomain) and abbreviated p75^{ECD}; in earlier literature, this ectodomain was often called the truncated nerve growth factor receptor (tNGFR or NGFRt).

During neuronal development, injury, or disease, p75^{ECD} is enzymatically cleaved from the transmembrane receptor via alpha-secretase. Subsequent shedding of the water-soluble p75^{ECD} results in its extensive urinary excretion. Urinary levels faithfully track normal neuronal development and maturation (DiStefano et al., 1991) as well as the onset and progression of neurological disease - notably amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Shepheard et al., 2017). In the latter study, urinary levels of p75^{ECD} from ALS patients are reported to be up to 5-fold higher than controls (but generally less than 2-fold). Excreted levels track disease progression, but overlap is observed in excreted levels

across groups. Just the same, the assay was deemed robust, as excretion was unaffected by time of day or gender, and no losses were observed in urine samples levels stored at different temperatures.

Overall, p75^{ECD} has the hallmarks of a potential alternative to creatinine for healthy individuals. Its major strength resides in its very constant daily excretion rates, with much less inter-individual variance compared with most other biomarkers. Since it is unknown how many diseases other than ALS substantially increase its excreted levels, it is unclear whether its levels in sewage would be sufficiently sensitive to reveal change (especially since these neuronal diseases usually occur at very low rates within a population). While this might reduce its value for BioSCIM as a disease biomarker, these same characteristics would make p75^{ECD} an intriguing alternative to creatinine. But complications arise from the fact that excreted levels are significantly elevated in the last trimester of pregnancy and during the first month or so of life (DiStefano et al., 1991). This would require that the age distributions and rates of pregnancy within populations would need to be comparable. Another potentially limiting factor might be that levels in sewage are close to, or below, the limits of analytical detection, as the reported excreted levels in urine seem to be in the range of nanograms per mg of creatinine. After dilution of urine by 3 or more orders of magnitude in sewage, the ultimate levels could pose challenges for detection. Time-trend variations might then not be distinguishable from the signal added by the incidence of disease.

8. Urinary proteins associated with kidney dysfunction or injury

Despite the reality that thousands of endogenous proteins - many of which are excreted in urine [e.g., see: Adachi et al. (2006)] - might serve as useful biomarkers, years of research are required to identify and validate those of clinical use. A useful way to reduce the numbers of candidates deserving further examination is to focus on those involved with kidney diseases, as they are most likely to be extensively excreted in urine - and often at high levels (e.g., see: Gao, 2015). Only two examples of potential candidates are briefly presented here: vitamin D-binding protein (VDBP) and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1). The discussion is limited because there is less known about these that would be relevant to BioSCIM. With respect to molecular size, note that the median size for human proteins is roughly 40 kDa. With respect to BioSCIM, a major unknown with nearly all proteinaceous markers is their stability or persistence in sewage (as opposed to urine).

8.1. Vitamin D-binding protein (VDBP)

VDBP is a 58-kDa glycoprotein, also known as Gc-globulin. VDBP binds with vitamin D metabolites and serves to transport and to protect/recycle them in circulation; it also works in concert with gelsolin (discussed below) to scavenge actin. VDBP is present at very high concentrations in the serum of healthy individuals: around 0.4 mg/mL (Bikle et al., 1986). This contrasts starkly with the extremely low urinary levels from healthy individuals (Chaykovska et al., 2016; Mirković et al., 2013) – a result of highly efficient renal reabsorption. The levels of VDBP excreted during the development and especially manifestation of a variety of kidney diseases or injury, however, can become greatly elevated, sometimes by several orders of magnitude (Mirković et al., 2013; Shoukry et al., 2015;

Tian et al., 2014). This is significant in that the relative levels between healthy and diseased states is much larger than for most biomarkers. This would greatly enhance the odds of successful detection in sewage.

8.2. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)

Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) is a 13-kDa cytokine, also known as CC-chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) or small inducible cytokine A2. It is renowned as the most potent chemotactic factor for monocytes. It becomes over-expressed with renal disease such as diabetic nephropathy. Compared with VDBP, the excreted levels of MCP-1 between healthy and diseased states do not change as much, but they still change by over an order of magnitude (Mansour et al., 2017a; Shoukry et al., 2015). Increased urinary levels of MCP-1 can be confounded by acute kidney damage, simply as a normal physiological response resulting, for example, from strenuous, sustained exercise (Mansour et al., 2017b).

9. Gelsolin

Gelsolin was briefly mentioned in the section "The Acute-Phase Response (APR)." Gelsolin is a protective agent, informally known as one of the more potent "actin scavenger" proteins; vitamin D binding protein (discussed above) is another (Shen et al., 2012). With a ubiquitous intracellular and extracelluar systemic distribution, its rather high plasma levels in healthy individuals range from 200 to 300 mg/L. It binds not just actin, but also a spectrum of other bioactive, and often deleterious, biochemicals. It plays a key role in regulating the disassembly of actin filament that has been exposed or released from cellular injury and which can reach toxic levels. By severing the free filaments, it can promote the conservation and remodeling of actin filament. Actin's cross-linked gel structure is effectively solubilized by *gel-sol-in*, hence the name. Gelsolin levels can therefore become depleted after cellular injury. And its depletion is prognostic of adverse outcomes; it therefore acts like a negative acute-phase protein. Overall, its elevated levels serve as a marker for health (Kustán et al., 2017; Nag et al., 2013; Park et al., 2016; Peddada et al., 2012).

Gelsolin itself is cleaved by caspase-3, releasing the terminal (or truncated) fragment, t-gelsolin (or tGelsolin); this fragment can also sever actin, but not in a regulated manner. Because of gelsolin's larger size (82 kDa) compared with its proteolytic fragment t-gelsolin (43 kDa), the fragment more easily escapes glomerular filtration from the blood than gelsolin itself and is therefore more easily excreted in the urine. This difference in sizes explains why most data on urinary levels involve gelsolin fragments such as t-gelsolin (Kothakota et al., 1997; Li et al., 2012; Sakurai and Utsumi, 2006). There is little data reported on urinary levels of parent gelsolin. High plasma levels of gelsolin can become translated into low gelsolin fragment levels in the urine, and vice-versa. As with other negative APPs, gelsolin can also be up-regulated in some disease states, so its plasma levels may not be easily interpreted as reflecting health or stress. It is unclear whether these potential problems might serve to confound the interpretation of urinary data.

10.References

- Adachi J, Kumar C, Zhang Y, Olsen JV, Mann M. The human urinary proteome contains more than 1500 proteins, including a large proportion of membrane proteins. Genome Biology 2006;7:R80.
- Ahou A, Martignago D, Alabdallah O, Tavazza R, Stano P, Macone A, et al. A plant spermine oxidase/dehydrogenase regulated by the proteasome and polyamines. Journal of Experimental Botany 2014;65:1585-603.
- Behringer V, Stevens JMG, Leendertz FH, Hohmann G, Deschner T. Validation of a Method for the Assessment of Urinary Neopterin Levels to Monitor Health Status in Non-humanprimate Species. Frontiers in Physiology 2017;8:1-11.
- Bikle DD, Halloran BP, Gee E, Ryzen E, Haddad JG. Free 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels are normal in subjects with liver disease and reduced total 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1986;78:748-52.
- Buchman AL. "Kits for Fecal Neopterin Concentration Measurement as an Indicator of Disease Activity in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: US 20160061825 A1." Patent No: US20160061825 A1. 2016; 10pp. Available on: https://www.google.com/patents/US20160061825. (accessed 13 July 2017).
- Burton C, Shi H, Ma Y. Daily variation and effect of dietary folate on urinary pteridines. Metabolomics 2016;12:78.
- Burton C, Ma Y. The role of urinary pteridines as disease biomarkers. Pteridines 2017;28:1-21.
- Castranova V, Robinson VA, Frazer DG. Pulmonary reactions to organic dust exposures: development of an animal model. Environmental Health Perspectives 1996;104:41-53.
- Chaykovska L, Heunisch F, von Einem G, Alter ML, Hocher C-F, Tsuprykov O, et al. Urinary Vitamin D Binding Protein and KIM-1 Are Potent New Biomarkers of Major Adverse Renal Events in Patients Undergoing Coronary Angiography. PLoS ONE 2016;11:e0145723.
- DiStefano PS, Clagett-Dame M, Chelsea DM, Loy R. Developmental regulation of human truncated nerve growth factor receptor. Annals of Neurology 1991;29:13-20.
- Gao Y. Urine Is a Better Biomarker Source Than Blood Especially for Kidney Diseases. In: Gao Y, Ed. Urine Proteomics in Kidney Disease Biomarker Discovery, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 845. 845. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 3-12.
- Geisler S, Mayersbach P, Becker K, Schennach H, Fuchs D, Gostner Johanna M. Serum tryptophan, kynurenine, phenylalanine, tyrosine and neopterin concentrations in 100 healthy blood donors. Pteridines 2015;26:31-36.
- Ghisoni K, Aguiar Jr AS, de Oliveira PA, Matheus FC, Gabach L, Perez M, et al. Neopterin acts as an endogenous cognitive enhancer. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity 2016;56:156-64.
- Guañabens N, Peris P, Monegal A. Bone Turnover Markers: A Clinical Review. Clinical Reviews in Bone and Mineral Metabolism 2015;13:83-97.
- Heistermann M, Higham JP. Urinary neopterin, a non-invasive marker of mammalian cellular immune activation, is highly stable under field conditions. Scientific Reports 2015;5:16308.

- Hiramatsu K, Sakaguchi K, Fujie N, Saitoh F, Takahama E, Moriya S-s, et al. Excretion of N^1 , N^{12} -diacetylspermine in the urine of healthy individuals. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry 2014;51:459-67.
- Hlaing TT, Compston JE. Biochemical markers of bone turnover uses and limitations. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry 2014;51:189-202.
- Iadarola P, Luisetti M. The role of desmosines as biomarkers for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine 2013;7:137-44.
- Janmale T, Genet R, Crone E, Flavall E, Firth C, Pirker J, et al. Neopterin and 7,8dihydroneopterin are generated within atherosclerotic plaques. Pteridines 2015;26:93-103.
- Johnson Caroline H, Dejea Christine M, Edler D, Hoang Linh T, Santidrian Antonio F, Felding Brunhilde H, et al. Metabolism Links Bacterial Biofilms and Colon Carcinogenesis. Cell Metabolism 2015;21:891-97.
- Kalač P. Health effects and occurrence of dietary polyamines: A review for the period 2005–mid 2013. Food Chemistry 2014;161:27-39.
- Kawakita M, Hiramatsu K. Diacetylated Derivatives of Spermine and Spermidine as Novel Promising Tumor Markers. Journal of Biochemistry 2006;139:315-22.
- Kawakita M, Hiramatsu K, Moriya S-s, Samejima K, Takahashi K-i. N¹, N¹²-Diacetylspermine in Human Urine: Performance as a Tumor Marker, Quantification, Production, and Excretion. In: Kusano T, Suzuki H, Eds. Polyamines: A Universal Molecular Nexus for Growth, Survival, and Specialized Metabolism. Springer Japan, Tokyo, Japan, 2015, pp. 305-13.
- Kawakita M, Hiramatsu K, Yanagiya M, Doi Y, Kosaka M. Determination of N^1, N^{12} -Diacetylspermine in Urine: A Novel Tumor Marker. In: Pegg AE, Casero JRA, Eds. Polyamines: Methods and Protocols. 720. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2011, pp. 367-78.
- Kothakota S, Azuma T, Reinhard C, Klippel A, Tang J, Chu K, et al. Caspase-3-Generated Fragment of Gelsolin: Effector of Morphological Change in Apoptosis. Science 1997;278:294-98.
- Kustán P, Horváth-Szalai Z, Mühl D. Nonconventional markers of sepsis. The Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine 2017;28:122-33.

Laguna TA, Sauer A, Brandy K, Williams CB, Welchlin-Bradford C, Moen C, et al. "Urinary Desmosine And Cathepsin B Concentrations In Healthy Controls Without Cystic Fibrosis." 2013, American Thoracic Society, American Thoracic Society 2013 International Conference: A53. Evaluation of pediatric respiratory function, Philadelphia, PA, pp A1790. Available on: <u>http://www.atsjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1164/ajrccm-</u>

conference.2013.187.1_MeetingAbstracts.A1790. (accessed 13 July 2017).

- Laich A, Neurauter G, Wirleitner B, Fuchs D. Degradation of serum neopterin during daylight exposure. Clinica Chimica Acta 2002;322:175-78.
- Li GH, Arora PD, Chen Y, McCulloch CA, Liu P. Multifunctional roles of gelsolin in health and diseases. Medicinal Research Reviews 2012;32:999-1025.
- Mansour SG, Puthumana J, Coca SG, Gentry M, Parikh CR. Biomarkers for the detection of renal fibrosis and prediction of renal outcomes: a systematic review. BMC Nephrology 2017a;18:72.

- Mansour SG, Verma G, Pata RW, Martin TG, Perazella MA, Parikh CR. Kidney Injury and Repair Biomarkers in Marathon Runners. American Journal of Kidney Diseases 2017b;70:252-61.
- Martin-Tornero E, Gomez DG, Duran-Meras I, Espinosa-Mansilla A. Development of an HPLC-MS method for the determination of natural pteridines in tomato samples. Analytical Methods 2016;8:6404-14.
- Miller-Fleming L, Olin-Sandoval V, Campbell K, Ralser M. Remaining Mysteries of Molecular Biology: The Role of Polyamines in the Cell. Journal of Molecular Biology 2015;427:3389-406.
- Mirković K, Doorenbos CRC, Dam WA, Lambers Heerspink HJ, Slagman MCJ, Nauta FL, et al. Urinary Vitamin D Binding Protein: A Potential Novel Marker of Renal Interstitial Inflammation and Fibrosis. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e55887.
- Nag S, Larsson M, Robinson RC, Burtnick LD. Gelsolin: The tail of a molecular gymnast. Cytoskeleton 2013;70:360-84.
- Nakayama Y, Torigoe K, Minagawa N, Yamaguchi K. The clinical usefulness of urinary N^1, N^{12} diacetylspermine (DiAcSpm) levels as a tumor marker in patients with colorectal cancer. Oncology Letters 2012;3:970-74.
- Nishizawa Y, Ohta H, Miura M, Inaba M, Ichimura S, Shiraki M, et al. Guidelines for the use of bone metabolic markers in the diagnosis and treatment of osteoporosis (2012 edition). Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism 2013;31:1-15.
- Ongay S, Sikma M, Horvatovich P, Hermans J, Miller BE, ten Hacken NHT, et al. Free urinary desmosine and isodesmosine as COPD biomarkers: The relevance of confounding factors. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Diseases (Miami) 2016;3:560-69.
- Park MH, Igarashi K. Polyamines and Their Metabolites as Diagnostic Markers of Human Diseases. Biomolecules & Therapeutics 2013;21:1-9.
- Park Y-J, Yoo S-A, Hwang D, Cho C-S, Kim W-U. Identification of novel urinary biomarkers for assessing disease activity and prognosis of rheumatoid arthritis. Experimental & Molecular Medicine 2016;48:e211.
- Peddada N, Sagar A, Ashish, Garg R. Plasma gelsolin: A general prognostic marker of health. Medical Hypotheses 2012;78:203-10.
- Pegg AE, Casero RA. Current Status of the Polyamine Research Field. Methods in Molecular Biology 2011;720:3-35.
- Pugin J. How tissue injury alarms the immune system and causes a systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Annals of Intensive Care 2012;2:27.
- Rodrigues da Silva V, Quinlivan E, Hanson AD, Gregory JF. Quantification of Pteridines in Plant-Derived Foods by High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC). The FASEB Journal 2007;21:A346.
- Sakurai N, Utsumi T. Posttranslational *N*-Myristoylation Is Required for the Anti-apoptotic Activity of Human tGelsolin, the C-terminal Caspase Cleavage Product of Human Gelsolin. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2006;281:14288-95.
- Shen E, Yu Z, Zhou M, Guo F. "Detection and quantitation of urine gelsolin." Patent No: US 20120156700 A1. 2012; Available on:

https://www.google.com/patents/US20120156700. (accessed 13 July 2017).

Shepheard SR, Chataway T, Schultz DW, Rush RA, Rogers M-L. The Extracellular Domain of Neurotrophin Receptor p75 as a Candidate Biomarker for Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. PLoS ONE 2014;9:e87398.

- Shepheard SR, Wuu J, Cardoso M, Wiklendt L, Dinning PG, Chataway T, et al. Urinary p75^{ECD}: A prognostic, disease progression, and pharmacodynamic biomarker in ALS. Neurology 2017;88:1137-43.
- Shoukry A, Bdeer SE-A, El-Sokkary RH. Urinary monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and vitamin D-binding protein as biomarkers for early detection of diabetic nephropathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry 2015;408:25-35.
- Skaper SD. Nerve growth factor: a neuroimmune crosstalk mediator for all seasons. Immunology 2017;151:1-15.
- Starcher B, Sauter E, Ho C. Elastin turnover in malignant solid tumors. Connective Tissue Research 2013;54:314-19.
- Takahashi Y, Sakaguchi K, Horio H, Hiramatsu K, Moriya S, Takahashi K, et al. Urinary N^1 , N^{12} -diacetylspermine is a non-invasive marker for the diagnosis and prognosis of non-small-cell lung cancer. Bristish Journal of Cancer 2015;113:1493-501.
- Taymur I, Ozdel K, Ozen NE, Gungor BB, Atmaca M. Urinary neopterine levels in patients with major depressive disorder: alterations after treatment with paroxetine and comparison with healthy controls. Psychiatria Danubina 2015;27:25-30.
- Tian X-Q, Zhao L-M, Ge J-P, Zhang YAN, Xu Y-C. Elevated urinary level of vitamin D-binding protein as a novel biomarker for diabetic nephropathy. Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine 2014;7:411-16.
- Tomitori H, Usui T, Saeki N, Ueda S, Kase H, Nishimura K, et al. Polyamine Oxidase and Acrolein as Novel Biochemical Markers for Diagnosis of Cerebral Stroke. Stroke 2005;36:2609-13.
- Van Daele J, Blancquaert D, Kiekens F, Van Der Straeten D, Lambert WE, Stove CP. Degradation and interconversion of plant pteridines during sample preparation and ultrahigh performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Food Chemistry 2016;194:1189-98.
- Viglio S, Di Venere M, Cagnone M, Fumagalli M, Iadarola P. The "History" of Desmosines: Forty Years of Debate on the Hypothesis That These Two Unnatural Amino Acids May Be Potential Biomarkers of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. In: Asao T, Asaduzzaman M, Eds. Amino Acid - New Insights and Roles in Plant and Animal. InTech, Rijeka, 2017, chapter 5, pp. 107-25.